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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
For year ended 30 June 2015

HON TERRY REDMAN MLA

MINISTER FOR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Mid West Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE		  GAVIN TREASURE
CHAIRMAN		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
10 September 2015					     10 September 2015

Contact Details

Postal	 Street		  Electronic
PO Box 238	 Level 2, Foreshore Business Centre		 Internet: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au
Geraldton WA 6531	 Foreshore Business Centre		  Email: info@mwdc.wa.gov.au
	 209 Foreshore Drive		  Telephone:	 61 8 9921 0702
	 Geraldton  WA  6530		  Facsimile:	 61 8 9921 0707
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OVERVIEW
Chairman’s Report
Once again, 2014-15 was an extremely 
rewarding year as Chair of the Mid  West 
Development Commission (MWDC).   
Our Annual Report is effectively our ‘yearbook’ 
for  2014-15 and I’m proud of the significant 
progress and achievements that it showcases.

Despite being the State’s most diverse regional 
economy, the Mid  West was not immune to 
the effects of the declining global demand 
for resources.  The ‘knock on’ effects of this 
contraction were noticed across several 
associated sectors in the Mid  West such as 
property development and sales, construction, 
retail and hospitality, which has tested the 
resilience of local operators.  Fortunately other 
mainstay industries such as agriculture, tourism 
and fishing appear to have had reasonably 
strong years in 2014-15, which helped buffer the 
effect of declines in other sectors.

Interestingly, the Mid  West’s Gross Regional 
Product hit around $6.8  billion for 2013‑14, 
which was its highest recorded level and 
up from $6.1  billion for the previous year.  
Given the challenging conditions currently being 
experienced we might expect to see a decline 
when 2014‑15 figures are released.  However, 
this result is indicative of the strong economic 
activity that the Mid West has enjoyed.

The region’s diversity remains its key strength 
and we’re confident this will enable us to continue 
to limit the potential effect of major external 
‘shocks’ on our economy.  The Commission 
has a deliberate focus on supporting continued 
economic diversification and will actively pursue 
new opportunities.  However, we will never 
lose sight of our core strengths and traditional 
mainstay industry base.

The region’s economic diversification was 
highlighted extremely well in our Mid  West 
Regional Blueprint.  After significant time in 
development involving extensive regional 
and statewide consultation, our Blueprint 
is now complete.  It will be launched by 
Minister for Regional Development, the 
Hon Terry Redman MLA, at the 2015 Mid West 
Economic and Resources Summit in August.

The Blueprint is our region’s shared growth 
and development strategy.  With a horizon to 
2050, it describes our key regional advantages, 
strengths and opportunities and highlights areas 
of growth and development priority.

With continued growth pressures in Perth, 
Government has made it clear that regions should 
be doing what they can to attract populations 
and help alleviate this capital city congestion.  
The key to doing this is creating new jobs and 
presenting a region that people will want to live 
in, raise families and ultimately retire.

The Mid  West Blueprint has embraced this 
challenge and identified five key ‘pillars’ for 
growth and development.  These pillars will 
underpin future efforts to grow our economy, offer 
more jobs and encourage more people to call 
the Mid West their home.  Importantly, existing 
Mid  West populations are at the core of the 
Blueprint, with any new investment necessarily 
needing to be good for local people. 

The five Blueprint’s pillars are:

1.	 Physical Infrastructure;

2.	 Digital and Communications;

3.	 Economic Development;

4.	 Highly Desirable Communities; and

5.	 Knowledge and Learning.

The Blueprint has provides important regional 
context and explains why a light has been 
shone upon these five pillars.  It also identifies 
22 elements (or sub pillars) that clarify areas of 
focus within the five pillars and proposes a series 
of key strategies to drive the region’s growth and 
development agenda.
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The Commission is so committed to the Blueprint 
that we have restructured our organisation to 
optimise its implementation.  The Blueprint is 
effectively our agency’s new strategic plan and 
will guide our efforts in future years and give us 
something to measure our effectiveness against.

This means getting runs on the Board and our 
Blueprint outlines a clear process for translating 
strategy into action.  We’re doing more targeted 
work in each of the Blueprint’s key areas to 
identify the best investments and those most 
likely to deliver desired Blueprint outcomes.  
Tourism has become an exemplar in 2014‑15, 
with a ‘development strategy’ completed that 
revealed six  key  investment opportunities that 
are now enjoying significant focus and traction.  

These potential tourism game changers are:

1.	 tourism development at the Abrolhos Islands;

2.	 Kalbarri National Park iconic Skywalks and 
tourist infrastructure;

3.	 coastal nodes and campgrounds;

4.	 Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail;

5.	 conservation estate development; and

6.	 Murchison geotourism.

The Commission has engaged various key 
stakeholders and is proactively progressing 
these priority projects.  We are confident of 
significant progress in 2015-16 regarding some 
of these initiatives.

With pressures on the State budget, access to 
public funds is quite challenging.  In such an 
environment, regions such as the Mid  West 
must become better at directing limited human 
and financial resources towards projects with 
greatest potential and expected socioeconomic 
impact.  Supporting the ‘best’ possible projects 
will continue to be our focus going forward.

The Mid  West was fortunate to secure 
$220  million of Royalties for Regions (RfR) 
funding in 2011‑12 to deliver its Mid  West 
Investment Plan (MWIP).  To date, more than 
$82 million has been committed to 32 priority 
projects with a combined construction value of 
around $170 million.

Funding for seven MWIP projects was 
announced during 2014-15, sharing around 
$8.4 million of MWIP funding (refer page  20).  
Another four projects with an estimated total 
cost of $15.3 million were assessed during the 
year, with approval to be sought in 2015‑16 for 
MWIP funding support.

Importantly for 2015-16 and beyond, MWIP 
funding provides the Commission with 
considerable leverage to drive excellent 
outcomes for the region, and often for the State 
as a whole.  Again, we will continue to use the 
Blueprint and other processes to direct our 
resources towards the best investments.

It was again pleasing to see in our annual client 
survey that around 90% of MWDC clients agreed 
that the Commission made a positive contribution 
towards economic development in the Mid West 
in 2014‑15.  We have maintained this result for at 
least the past six years, which reflects positively 
on the Commission’s staff and Board.

Our performance and key achievements for 
2014-15 are outlined in more detail on page 12 
under “Agency Performance”.  I’d again like 
to congratulate our great staff and Board on a 
terrific year and am excited about the prospects 
for 2015-16.

Hon Murray Criddle, Chairman
Mid West Development Commission Board
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pillar element development strategy

Movement of people and 
resources

Water

Energy

Waste

Telecommunications 
infrastructure

Connected communities

Resource Economy
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Agriculture and food

Land availability

Business and industry 
development

Trade development

Security
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leadership and collaboration

Spaces and places

Regional housing

Health and wellbeing

Remote communities

Environment

Education and training

Workforce development

Research and innovation  

game changers

Eco accommodation and  
amenities on Abrolhos Islands

Kalbarri National Park iconic 
skywalk, road sealing,  
naturebank, eco campgropund

Develop coastal nodes  
and campsites

Kalbarri to Shark Bay  
4WD trail along Zuytdorp coast

Develop DPAW conservation 
blocks (Karara, Muggon, 
Doolgunna Mooloogool, 
Dalgaranga) into tourism-
conservation-recreation 
destinations

Develop geo tourism  
and a geo park

2050 vision
The Mid West attract one million visitors each 

year that stay and enjoy  
the region for longer...

Mid West 
TOURISM 
Deve lopmen t  S t ra t egy

AUGUST 2014
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Project 
planning / design

Detailed  
economic  
analysis

Stakeholder 
Steering Group 

(SSG)

Stakeholder 
engagement

Funding 
procurement

Project delivery
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Executive Summary

Performance Highlights
•	 Completed the Mid West Regional Blueprint, 

which sets an aspirational growth and 
development vision for the region 
to 2050.  Following extensive consultation 
and various detailed external review 
processes, the Blueprint was submitted 
to the Minister for Regional Development, 
Hon T erry R edman  MLA, and will be 
launched at the 2015 Mid West Economic 
and Resources Summit.

•	 Commenced an extensive organisational 
and operational review of the Commission to 
better position it to deliver priority outcomes 
of the Mid West Regional Blueprint.

•	 Continued to deliver of the Commission’s 
Mid  West Investment Plan (MWIP), with 
$220 million allocated from RfR in 2011‑12 to 
address the region’s infrastructure priorities.  
To date $82 million has been allocated 
to 32 projects with a construction value 
totalling $170 million.  MWIP funding totalling 
$8.4  million was announced for seven new 
projects in 2014-15.

•	 MWIP projects achieving key milestones in 
2014‑15 include:
o	 Morawa’s Town Centre Revitalisation 

project - civic square component 
(completion and launch);

o	 replacement of Ballinyoo Bridge over the 
Murchison River (commencement);

o	 restoration of Geraldton’s Original Railway 
Station, which was the first government 
railway station in WA (1879) (completion 
and launch);

o	 the Building Better Regional Cities project 
to provide affordable housing lots and 
improve connectivity in Geraldton’s 
south eastern suburbs (completion of 
Verita Road component);

o	 the Dongara – Northampton Strategic 
Corridor Planning Study (commenced);

o	 Perenjori Early Childhood Centre 
construction (completed); and

o	 widening selected priority sections of the 
Wubin – Mullewa Road between Morawa 
and Perenjori (complete and operational).

•	 Through the Mid  West Tourism Alliance, 
worked with local governments to oversee 
the completion and launch of a Mid  West 
Tourism Development Strategy, which 
articulated a regional vision for tourism 
development.  The  Strategy highlights 
development priorities for each subregion 
and prioritised six potential game changing 
tourism projects for development.

•	 In partnership with the Mid West Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, local governments 
and businesses, progressed a Mid  West 
Business Development Strategy.  
The  Strategy will provide guidance on the 
growth and development of the region’s 
small to medium enterprise sector and 
identify opportunities for investment.  
The draft strategy is to be released for public 
comment in August 2015.

•	 Progressed a Digital and Communications 
Strategy to identify broadband infrastructure 
and services requirements in the Mid West, 
as well as explore options available to 
most effectively deliver infrastructure to 
complement the intended rollout of the 
National Broadband Network.

•	 Commenced a Mid  West Agriculture 
Development Strategy to identify priority 
interventions for growth of the region’s 
agriculture and food industries.

•	 Continued to support the development of a 
Mid West marine aquaculture industry by:
o	 assisting with planning for a yellow tail 

kingfish grow-out Trial (Stage 2);
o	 advocating for improved and unified State 

agency support for aquaculture and a 
State government ‘statement of intent’ to 
develop aquaculture in WA; and

o	 supporting the progress of Marine 
Aquaculture Zones in WA waters.

•	 Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton and 
others to prepare the City’s submission to be 
one of the first four of nine regional centres 
in WA selected in the Regional  Centres 
Development Plan (RCDP) project.  The 
RCDP is aimed at driving economic and 
employment outcomes and long term 
prosperity in key regional cities.

•	 Achieved strong results in the annual client 
perceptions survey, including that 90% 
of clients agree the Commission makes 
a positive contribution towards economic 
development in the Mid West.
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Operational Structure
Enabling Legislation
The Mid  West Development Commission is a 
State Government statutory authority managed 
by a community based Board.  

The Commission functions under the provisions 
of the Regional Development Commissions Act 
(1993) and is one of nine regional development 
commissions in Western Australia.

Responsible Minister
Hon Terry Redman MLA 
Minister for Regional Development

Organisational Structure

Mission

To have the Mid  West region recognised as a 
preferred region in which to live, work, study 
and invest.

Strategic Directions

The Commission’s future direction is set out in 
its Mid West Regional Blueprint (August 2015).  

The Commission has undergone a full strategic 
and organisational review with a view to realign 
resources to optimise delivery of Blueprint 
priorities.  The new structure will be introduced 
in 2015‑16, with staff allocated specific areas of 
responsibility from the Blueprint.

Hon Terry Redman MLA
Minister for Regional Development

Board of Management

Gavin Treasure
Chief Executive Officer

Neil Condon
Assistant Director

(level 8) Sheryl Murphy
Acting Executive Assistant 

(level 3)

Compliance and reporting

Project evaluation and advice

Brendin Flanigan
Senior Project Manager 

(level 6)

Margie Robinson
Project Officer

(level 4)

Trish Palmonari
Principal Project Manager

(level 8)

Strategic Projects

Trevor Price
Principal Project Manager

(level 8)

Infrastructure and 
Business Development Communities and Technology 

Adam Murszewski
Project Manager

(level 5)

Fiona Shallcross
Project Manager

(level 5)

Jacinta Potts
Commercial Manager

(level 6)

Commercial Services

Steve Douglas
Manager Strategic Projects

(level 8)

Mike Kendall
Senior Project Manager 

(level 6)

Anne Finlay
Project Manager

(level 5)

Kris Nestoridis
Finance and Administration 

Officer (level 2) 

Mid West Investment Plan

Rob Smallwood
Mid West Digital Economy 

Strategy Manager
(level 7)

Kylie Paine
Grant Administrator

(level 4)

Organisational Chart
For the year ended 30 June 2015
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Board of the Authority
The Mid  West Development Commission is 
managed by a Board of regional representatives 
comprising Local Government, Community and 
Ministerial appointments. 

The Commission’s Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) is an ex‑officio member of the Board.

During 2014-15, Mr Andrew Pitcher, Deputy Chair, 
resigned from the Commission Board after five 
years of service.  In addition, the following Board 
members served during 2014‑15 and comprise 
the Commission’s current Board.

Board Profiles

Hon Murray Criddle - Chairperson

Murray is a primary producer and a retired 
Member of the Western Australian Parliament.  
He was Member for the Agricultural Region 
from 1993 until his resignation in 2008 and 
was Minister  for Transport from 1998 to 2001.  
During his time in Parliament Murray was a 
member of a number of Standing Committees 
including Estimates and Financial Operations, 
Ecology and Sustainable Development, and 
Public Administration and Finance.  He was also 
a member of a number of Select Committees 
including Select Committee for Native Title and 
Select Committee for Cape Range National Park 
and Ningaloo Marine Park.  Murray was a 
Ministerial appointment to the Commission 
Board in 2009 as Chairman.

Mr Todd West

Todd is CEO of Glass Co WA, which is 
WA’s largest regional glass processing and 
manufacturing facility and has won multiple 
local and State awards.   Prior to Glass Co, 
Todd  owned and operated Wests Glass, 
Security and Home Improvements before 
merging the two businesses in 2012.  ‘Wests’ 
has operated in the Mid West since 1968 as a 
family business.  As a dedicated local business 
owner Todd is passionate about future proofing 
the Mid  West by working hard to deliver 
Mid  West Blueprint strategies and making 
sure the best community outcomes are always 
achieved.  He is an Executive Board Member of 
the local Master  Builders Association and 
Regional Executive Member for the Glass and 
Window Association of WA.  Todd joined the 
Commission Board in 2014 as a Community 
appointment.

Cr Michelle Bagley

Michelle is a primary producer at Yandanooka 
in the Shire of Mingenew.  Michelle was elected 
to the Mingenew Shire Council in 1999 and has 
been Shire  President for the past  ten  years.  
Prior to entering local government, Michelle was 
actively involved in several Mingenew sporting 
clubs and community committees.  She was also 
Coordinator of the local Youth Advisory Council 
for three years.  Michelle is current Chair of the 
Mid West Regional Council and North Midlands 
Regional Road Group and Deputy Chair of 
the Mid West Regional Road Group.  She was 
the delegate for the Northern Country Zone 
of Local  Government and also recently 
became a member of the Western  Australian 
College of Agriculture - Morawa’s Independent 
Public Schools Board.  Michelle is also 
now Mingenew’s representative on the 
North Midlands Wildflower Tourism committee.   
Michelle joined the Commission Board in 2012 
as a Local Government appointment.

Murray Criddle at Geraldton Universities Centre graduation
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Mr Ian Carpenter

Ian was first elected to the City of Geraldton as 
a Councillor in 2003, serving as a Councillor, 
Deputy Mayor and Mayor leading up to the 
amalgamation of Geraldton and Greenough.  
He was elected as inaugural Mayor of the 
new City of Geraldton‑Greenough and 
when Geraldton‑Greenough and Mullewa 
amalgamated in 2011 became inaugural Mayor 
of the City of Greater Geraldton.    Ian is a current 
Commissioner for the WA Grants Commission, 
with a specific portfolio responsibility for regional 
local governments.  He is Deputy Chairman of 
both the WA Regional Capitals Alliance (and past 
Chairman) and the Regional Capitals Alliance 
of Australia.  Ian has a passion to support the 
economic development of the Mid  West and 
seeks to make the best of the opportunities the 
NBN will bring to the region.  Ian has served 
on the Commission Board since 2012 as a 
Local Government appointment.

Cr Kirrilee Warr

Kirrilee lives in Yuna (Chapman Valley) and 
is a Director, along with her husband, of their 
broadacre agricultural enterprise.  She has strong 
community involvement in sport, environment, 
heritage and industry development.  Kirrilee 
holds a Board appointment with Racing  and 
Wagering WA and was elected to the Shire of 
Chapman Valley Council in 2013.  She is also 
Secretary of the Yuna Farm Improvement Group 
and was a reference group member of the Rural, 
Remote, and Regional Women’s Network.  
Kirrilee is passionate about empowering young 
people and women, telecommunications, 
economic development of primary industries and 
education.  She is also a member and Graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  
Kirrilee was a Ministerial appointment to the 
Commission Board in 2012.

Cr Ashley Dowden

Ashley is owner and manager of Challa Station, 
60km east of Mount Magnet, which has 
been in the Dowden family since 1888.   
With his wife Debbie, Ashley is also a partner 
in Murchison  Aviation and Machinery Hire,  
which contracts to local  governments and  
mining companies, specializing in low 
level aviation, civil earthworks and road 
construction.  Ashley has been a Shire of 
Mount Magnet Councilor since 2003 and is 
current   Shire  President.  He  is also current 
Chairman of the Meekatharra  Rangeland 
Biosecurity Association, which controls 
biosecurity over an area of almost 500,000km2 
across the Murchison extending into the 
Pilbara  (north) and Wheatbelt (south).   
Ashley has also sat on the Murchison Regional 
Vermin Council and was a State Councillor for 
the Murchison Country Zone.  He is passionate 
about his community and the region and 
wants to see them prosper and reach their 
full potential.  He was a Local Government 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2012.

Ms Christine Kerr

Chris is currently a Consultant / Director with 
Transition Management, a business that 
undertakes a range of contracts and projects, 
particularly in the human services sector.  
She  has had long term involvement in the 
training, labour market and disability sectors.  
She has an interest in the future direction of 
the education and training environment and 
the development of innovative sports, arts and 
environmental tourism in the region.   Chris also 
advocates strongly for equitable inclusion of all 
people in employment, education and training.  
Chris has a passion for building communities that 
value diversity and has sought to combine her 
personal and professional interests to promote 
inclusion for all.  She has been a Board member 
of the Disability Services Commission (DSC), 
Deputy Chairperson of the National Disability 
and Carers Advisory Council and is the DSC 
‘Count Me In’ Ambassador for Mid West.  Chris 
was awarded the Centenary Medal for service to 
the disabled community.  Chris was a Ministerial 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2014.
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Ms Michelle Allen

Michelle has a strong farming and 
community background with experience 
as a grain and livestock producer in WA’s 
Northern  Agricultural R egion.  Michelle  is 
passionate about local communities and has 
extensive experience working within community, 
industry and government organisations in a 
variety of roles.   Initially she worked within 
grower and research organisations developing 
policy and strategies and  was also a member 
of the Agricultural Protection Board of WA from 
1999 – 2010, during which time she Chaired 
a Parliamentary Review of the State Wild Dog 
Management Program of WA.  Michelle currently 
Chairs the West Australian Biosecurity Council 
and continues her strong involvement with a 
number of local organisations in a governance 
capacity, playing a key role in the areas of 
communication and strategic planning.  She has 
a particular interest in seeing the Mid  West 
prosper and in developing capacity to meet the 
intense challenges and terrific opportunities 
that come to such a diverse region.   Michelle 
was a Community appointment to the 
Commission Board in 2014.

Mr Gavin Treasure

Gavin is Chief Executive Officer of the 
Mid  West  Development Commission and is a 
member of the Board in this capacity.

Senior Officers

Mr Gavin Treasure  
(Chief Executive Officer)

Gavin joined the Commission in October 2012 
after eight years as CEO of the Shire of Morawa.  
He is a certified practising accountant and also 
holds a Master of Business Administration and 
Master of Commerce.

Administered Legislation 
The Mid  West Development Commission also 
administers the following related Acts:

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina 
Development Act 1990

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Act 1929

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Enabling Act 1934

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute (Trust Property Disposition) 
Act 1938

Other Key Legislation Impacting 
on Mid  West D evelopment 
Commission’s Activities
In the performance of its functions, the 
Mid  West  Development Commission complies 
with the following relevant written laws:

•	 Disability Services Act 1993

•	 Electoral Act 1907

•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984

•	 Financial Management Act 2006

•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina 
Development Act 1990

•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979

•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1983

•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994

•	 Royalties for Regions Act 2009

•	 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

•	 State Records Act 2000

•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991

•	 Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation 
Act 1981
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Performance Management Framework

Outcome Based Management Framework
Broad government goals are supported at agency level by specific outcomes.  Agencies deliver 
services to achieve these outcomes.  The following tables illustrate the relationship between the 
Commission’s services and desired outcomes, and the government goal they contribute to.

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

Stronger Focus on the Regions:

Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve 
the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West 
region.

1.	 Information and Advice

2.	 Investment Facilitation

3.	 Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West

Service 1: Information and Advice

To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between 
government, business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact, and 
by raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation

To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base and 
is attractive to investors.

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

To facilitate the development of infrastructure and services based on long term economic development 
strategies, to support communities and businesses in the Mid West.

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 2014-15.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2014-15.
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Agency Performance
Report on Operations

Service 1: Information and Advice
To contribute to economic growth and 
employment by developing strategic 
partnerships between government, business 
and the community, providing a central point 
of coordination and contact, and by raising 
awareness of the Mid West region.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Administered the Royalties for Regions 
(RfR) Mid  West Regional Grants Scheme 
(MWRGS).  This included:

o	 allocating $981,110 of contestable 
MWRGS funding to ten projects;

o	 allocating $370,000 from the Community 
Chest Fund (CCF) to 25 projects; and

o	 supporting recipients of all MWRGS 
funding from previous rounds to effectively 
report on and acquit their grants.

(Please refer to the tables at the end of this 
Report on Operations section for full details of 
MWRGS allocations).

•	 Provided advice and assistance to clients 
with project planning and development, 
identification of suitable grant opportunities 
and applications for grant funding.

•	 Provided updates to stakeholders on the 
status of various major projects in the 
Mid West region.

•	 Updated the Mid  West Mining Register to 
assist local businesses identify and win 
procurement opportunities from resource 
projects. 

•	 Collated and provided statistical data to a 
range of stakeholders to assist with planning 
in response to social, economic, employment 
and industry growth and development within 
the Mid West.

•	 Worked with the Murchison Executive Group, 
which includes the CEOs of seven Murchison 
local governments, to identify opportunities 
for local government collaboration and 
resource sharing in the Murchison subregion.

•	 Provided a range of opportunities for 
professional development, colleagueship 
and mentoring for a network local government 
Community Development Officers (CDOs).  
The CDO network now extends across 
a number of regions and continues to 
enhance collaboration amongst CDOs.  
This has resulted in more effective delivery 
of community programs and a significantly 
reduced turnover of staff.

•	 Developed a range of new communications 
tools to help promote the role and activities 
of the Commission including Mid  West 
Regional Blueprint DVD; Mid West Tourism 
Strategy DVD; MWDC Corporate DVD; 
update of current MWDC website and launch 
of an MWDC Facebook Page.

•	 Coordinated Ministerial visits to the region 
for launches and announcements of 
Mid West  Investment Plan (MWIP) projects 
including the Perenjori Early Childhood 
Centre; Morawa Aged Care facility; 
Morawa  Town Revitalisation and Freight 
Road Bypass; Monsignor Hawes Interpretive 
Centre and Wonthella Oval Lighting project.

Morawa Town Revitalisation launch
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Major Initiatives for 2015-16

•	 	Promote the strategic use of available RfR 
funding through:

o	 pursuit of Mid  West Regional Blueprint 
outcomes;

o	 	planning for priority major projects; and

o	 	delivery of targeted projects that will 
improve economic and community 
infrastructure and services.

•	 Complete redevelopment of MWDC website.

•	 Continue to update stakeholders on the status 
of major projects in the Mid West region.

•	 	Update Mid  West Major Projects Summary 
for distribution to businesses, industry 
associations and government agencies in 
WA, nationally and overseas.

•	 	Update the Mid  West Mining Register 
as development occurs to assist local 
businesses identify and win procurement 
opportunities.

•	 	Continue to lead and support a professional 
support network for regional WA’s local 
government CDOs to enhance collaboration 
and program delivery and limit staff turnover.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation
To create a business environment within the 
Mid West region that has a diverse economic base 
and is attractive to investors.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Continued to support development of a 
Mid West marine aquaculture industry by:

o	 assisting the proponent and government 
agencies with planning for the Yellow Tail 
Kingfish (YTK) Grow-out Trial (Stage 2), 
which was later postponed to 2015-16;

o	 advocating for improved and unified State 
agency support for aquaculture across 
WA through engagement with other 
jurisdictions that have developed their 
aquaculture industries; 

o	 successfully advocating for a State 
government ‘statement of intent’ to 
develop aquaculture in WA; and

o	 working with aquaculture industry groups 
and the WA Department of Fisheries 
to progress the establishment of 
Marine Aquaculture Zones in WA waters.

•	 Commenced a Mid  West Agriculture 
Development Strategy to identify priority 
interventions for growth of the region’s 
agriculture and food industries.

•	 Worked with a senior officers’ group to 
progress the RfR Seizing the Opportunity 
in Agriculture initiative.  This involved 
participating in steering groups and lobbying 
for industry leadership of priority projects.

•	 Assisted horticulture proponents overcome 
infrastructure impediments to new projects 
and undertook planning to support industry 
innovation.

•	 Assisted a number of potential investors with 
their investigations and feasibility studies for 
major strategic infrastructure projects.

•	 Worked with the Mid West Tourism Alliance 
and local governments to oversee 
the completion of a Mid  West Tourism 
Development Strategy, which identified key 
development priorities for each subregion.  
Also worked with stakeholders to developed 
business cases to secure funding for several 
priority projects.

Durack Institute of Technology, manual arts classMorawa Town Revitalisation launch
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•	 As part of the SuperTowns initiative, worked 
closely with the Shire of Morawa to complete 
its Morawa town centre revitalisation project.  
This was supported with $3 million from the 
RfR Regional Centres Development Fund 
(SuperTowns) and $2.536 million from the 
Commission’s MWIP.

•	 Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton 
(CGG) and  others to prepare the City’s 
submission to be one of the first four of 
nine ‘Regional Centres’ in WA selected in 
the Regional Centres Development Plan 
(RCDP).  The RCDP is aimed at driving 
economic and employment outcomes and 
long term prosperity.  Regional Centres 
is the second stage of the RCDP; the first 
stage being the SuperTowns initiative.

•	 Continued to deliver elements of the 
Mid West Indigenous Arts Industry Strategic 
Plan, including:

o	 providing ongoing support to 
the Wirnda  Barna Art Centre in  
Mount Magnet, which supports Aboriginal 
artists from upper Murchison communities 
including Yalgoo, Mount  Magnet, 
Karalundi, Sandstone, Cue, Meekatharra 
and Yulga Jinna; and

o	 providing continued assistance for 
Aboriginal art exhibitions to enhance 
Aboriginal artists’ sales and technical 
development.

•	 Supported the implementation of Australia’s 
component of the Square Kilometre 
Array (SKA) Stage 1 (jointly hosted with 
South Africa) by:

o	 providing regional input through 
membership of the SKA Inter Agency 
Group, the SKA Utilities Group and the 
SKA Regional Stakeholders Group;

o	 working with Horizon Power to establish 
the Murchison Radio-astronomy 
Observatory (MRO) Power Plant, 
which is funded predominantly from the 
Commission’s MWIP; and

o	 supporting the Shire of Murchison to 
progress construction of a replacement 
for Ballinyoo Bridge over the 
Murchison River.  The $5.5 million project 
is funded predominantly from the MWIP 
and other RfR programs.

•	 Continued to leverage regional development 
outcomes from the SKA and other 
radio‑astronomy projects at the MRO along 
with their related infrastructure by:

o	 providing regional input into a State‑Federal 
Memorandum of Understanding, to outline 
the SKA1 roles and responsibilities of the 
two jurisdictions; and

o	 organising a workshop to identify specific 
research, technology and innovation 
initiatives that can enhance the global 
competitiveness of industry sectors in 
which the Mid  West has a comparative 
and competitive advantage.

•	 Through membership of the Mid  West 
Workforce Alliance, supported the 
development of a Mid  West Workforce 
Development Plan (2015-18) to outline 
the region’s current and future workforce 
needs.  The Plan has a focus on youth and 
Aboriginal engagement including pathways 
from education and training through to 
employment, as well as attracting and 
retaining workers in hinterland communities.

•	 In partnership with the Mid West Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, local governments 
and businesses, progressed a 
Mid  West  Business Development Strategy.   
The  Strategy will guide the growth and 
development of the region’s small to medium 
enterprise sector and identify opportunities 
for investment.  Regional consultation 
included more than 120 individuals and 
groups in the “business” space to inform the 
Strategy, which is scheduled to be released 
for public comment in August 2015.

•	 Progressed a Digital and Communications 
Strategy to identify broadband infrastructure 
and services requirements in the Mid West.  
The Strategy will also explore options to 
most effectively deliver infrastructure to 
complement the intended rollout of the 
National Broadband Network.

•	 Worked with stakeholders to secure 
the Commonwealth Government’s firm 
commitment to continue to deliver Fibre to 
the Premise (FttP) broadband services to 
Geraldton’s urban area.  This will deliver 
broadband speeds for Geraldton in the top 
1% of locations nationally.
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•	 Consulted with Mid  West stakeholders to 
determine current issues and deficiencies 
in broadband infrastructure and services.  
Via  the Mid  West Regional Blueprint 
community consultation process, MWDC 
engaged in 23 community consultations to 
explore experiences and expectations of 
Mid West communities.

•	 Provided input and analysis of mobile black 
spots candidate locations for the Mid West.  
Recommendations for allocation of resources 
from the Regional Telecommunication 
Project and Mobile Black Spots program 
resulted in the Mid West being amongst the 
most successful regions in the nation on a 
new tower per capita basis.

•	 In partnership with the Department of Housing, 
LandCorp and key regional stakeholders, 
progressed a Mid  West Housing and Land 
Development Strategy to define the issues 
and challenges facing the region and develop 
strategies and priority actions.

Major Initiatives for 2015-16

•	 Continue working with stakeholders to 
develop a Mid West marine finfish aquaculture 
industry by:

o	 participating in a second YTK trial to 
further develop knowledge and expertise 
in the Mid West, solve problems identified 
in previous trials and verify the industry’s 
potential for possible investors;

o	 advocating for a State government 
‘statement of intent’ to develop 
aquaculture in WA;

o	 implementing the Mid  West Aquaculture 
Development Plan to help the industry 
progress from the current trial stage to full 
commercialisation;

o	 working to streamline and focus 
government services to the aquaculture 
sector across the State to ensure best 
value and adequate support is provided 
to this developing industry; and

o	 working with stakeholders on the planned 
establishment of Marine Aquaculture 
Zone in the Mid West.

•	 Complete and launch an Agriculture 
Development Strategy for the Mid West to 
help develop a region built on a diverse, 
innovative profitable and productive 
agriculture and food sector that services 
local and global markets through the 
production and supply of high quality food.

•	 As a member of the Mid  West Workforce 
Development Alliance, support the launch and 
implementation of the Mid  West Workforce 
Development Plan (2015-18), which aims to 
ensure the region’s future workforce needs 
are met.  

•	 MWDC is the lead agency assigned 
to progress the development of the 
Geraldton Health, Education and Training 
Accommodation Project (GHETAP).

•	 Work with the Department of Education 
and key regional stakeholders to oversee 
the development of a Mid  West Education 
and Training Strategy that helps define the 
issues and challenges facing the sector and 
provides strategies and actions for future 
change.

•	 Launch the Mid West Business Development 
Strategy and develop business cases for 
funding with proponents of key initiatives.

•	 Work with the Department of Agriculture and 
Food, Department of Environment Regulation 
and pastoralists to enhance the profitability 
of pastoralism in the Southern Rangelands.

•	 In partnership with subregional 
local government groupings, work to secure 
resources to progress priority initiatives 
from subregional economic development 
strategies, focussing on those opportunities 
with the greatest potential.

•	 Develop and harness relationships resulting 
from the Commission’s involvement in the 
Mid  West chapter of the Australia China 
Business Council.

•	 Work with the Aboriginal Art Centre Hub 
WA (AACHWA) to support the sustainability 
of the region’s Aboriginal art centres and to 
further develop the industry.

•	 Work with the Office of Science to support 
the implementation of Australia’s component 
of SKA Stage 1.
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•	 Assist the Shire of Murchison to progress 
the replacement of Ballinyoo Bridge over the 
Murchison River.

•	 Work with Horizon Power to complete the 
construction of the MRO Power Plant and to 
ensure its integration with the larger power 
requirements of SKA Stage1.

•	 Capture regional outcomes from the SKA 
and MRO by:

o	 identifying and progressing economic and 
community development initiatives that 
can leverage off the establishment of the 
SKA, other radio astronomy projects and 
their associated infrastructure; 

o	 progressing specific research, technology 
and innovation initiatives that can 
enhance the global competitiveness of 
industry sectors in which the region has a 
comparative and competitive advantage; 
and

o	 ensuring local businesses are well 
informed  of any potential opportunities 
to supply goods or services to 
radio astronomy projects at the MRO.

•	 Continue to work collaboratively through 
the Mid  West Tourism Alliance to pursue 
priority initiatives from the Mid West Tourism 
Development Strategy.

•	 Complete, launch and implement the 
Mid  West Business Development Strategy 
and progress resultant priority projects.

•	 Undertake a Mid West Energy Development 
Strategy, including identification of key 
transformational projects.

•	 Work with key stakeholders to complete 
a Mid  West Digital and Communications 
Strategy, which will provide a pathway for 
the rollout of digital and communications 
initiatives in alignment with the Mid  West 
Regional Blueprint.

•	 Complete the Mid  West Housing and 
Land Development Strategy and progress 
business cases for priority projects identified.

•	 Engage health sector stakeholders in the 
development of a Mid  West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy to identify and address 
gaps within the existing system in line with 
the Mid West Regional Blueprint.

•	 Work with Non Government Organisations 
(NGOs) and Not for Profits (NFPs) to 
strategically plan for the inevitable changes 
facing the sector as a result of major 
budgetary constraints and a challenging 
service delivery environment.

•	 Work alongside and facilitate Aboriginal 
leadership via the Mid  West Aboriginal 
Organisations Alliance and Bundiyarra 
to create cultural tourism and trails 
developments across the region.

•	 Work with Bush Heritage Australia, 
Rangelands  NRM (Natural Resource 
Management), Northern Agricultural 
Catchments Council, Department of Parks 
and Wildlife and Yamatji Marlpa Aboriginal 
Corporation to pursue opportunities for 
Badimaya people in Mount Magnet, Yalgoo, 
Paynes  Find and surrounds to achieve 
cultural and environmental outcomes in the 
Southern R angelands.  There is potential 
to work in partnership with Central Desert 
Native Title Service in Wiluna to mentor and 
assist with training on Badimaya country 
and across the entire Murchison Gascoyne 
Rangelands areas.

Proposed Kalbarri Skywalks concept plan
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Service 3: Infrastructure and 
Services Development in the 
Mid West
To facilitate the development of infrastructure 
and services based on long-term economic 
development strategies to support communities 
and businesses in the Mid West.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Progressed the development of a Mid West 
Regional Blueprint that sets an aspirational 
growth and development vision for the region 
to 2050.  The Blueprint was informed by a 
wide variety of State and regional plans and 
aligns closely with the recently released State 
Planning Strategy 2050.  During 2014‑15, 
work on the Blueprint included:

o	 submitting an updated draft in July 2014 
to the Minister for Regional Development 
for release for broader public comment;

o	 releasing the Blueprint for an eight week 
public comment period accompanied by 
an extensive media campaign and visits 
to all Mid  West local governments for 
workshops and feedback;

o	 consideration of public comment feedback 
from agencies, industry bodies and 
community members and incorporation of 
relevant changes;

o	 consideration of detailed feedback from 
reviews commissioned, inlcuding that by 
the Regional Development Trust; and

o	 updating the Blueprint for subsequent 
adoption by MWDC Board and expected 
launch by the Minister for Regional 
Development in 2015‑16. 

•	 Commenced an organisational and 
operational review of the Commission to help 
position it to deliver priority outcomes of the 
Mid West Regional Blueprint.

•	 Commenced the development of a bespoke 
Multi Criteria Analysis (MCA) tool to consider 
project concepts and help identify those with 
the greatest potential and ability to deliver 
regional development outcomes aligned with 
the Blueprint.

•	 Continued to implement the Commission’s 
MWIP, which was allocated $220 million 
from RfR over eight  years (to 2018-19) to 
address the region’s infrastructure priorities.  
To date the MWIP has provided $82 million 
to 32  projects with a construction value 
totalling $170 million.  Key MWIP outcomes 
in 2014‑15 included:

o	 announcement of MWIP funding totalling 
$8.4 million for seven projects; and

o	 the assessment and recommendation 
for funding of a further four projects with 
a total project value of $15.3 million 
(MWIP  funding of $12 million).  Approval 
of MWIP funding for these projects will be 
sought in 2015-16.

(Please refer to the tables at the end of this 
Report on Operations section for full details of 
MWIP allocations).

•	 Administered the Commission’s Agency 
Working Group and Mid  West Strategic 
Infrastructure Group (MWSIG).  These 
groups function to collaboratively resolve 
infrastructure bottlenecks and provide a 
forum for agencies to share information 
on major projects in the region.  Through 
these groups the Commission assisted the 
development of major projects by:

o	 working with key government stakeholders 
to establish the Oakajee Narngulu 
Infrastructure Corridor (ONIC) and provide 
a heavy freight bypass around Geraldton 
to facilitate service delivery to Oakajee 
and beyond;

o	 providing information and support to 
proponents investigating long term power 
solutions for the Mid West;

o	 monitoring data from Main Roads WA to 
determine the increase in heavy freight 
movements on the region’s road transport 
infrastructure and help identify the region’s 
road infrastructure priorities;

o	 continuing to engage with the Department  
of Water on the impacts of policy and 
planning;

o	 highlighting the constraints in the region’s 
exporting facilities; and

o	 facilitating industry initiatives to develop 
the region’s supply chain infrastructure.
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•	 Worked with Centacare, who are the 
managers of the Bidi Bidi early childhood 
development and parenting centre in 
Mount  Magnet, to address the Murchison’s 
relatively poor Australian Early Development 
Census (AEDC) results.

•	 Worked with Main Roads WA to progress the 
Dongara – Northampton Strategic Corridor 
Planning Study - funded from the MWIP.

•	 Worked with the CGG and other 
stakeholders  to support LandCorp’s site 
investigations and planning for Stage 2 of the 
Batavia Coast Marina redevelopment.

•	 Worked with the Western Australian Museum 
to:

o	 determine the best option for implementing 
the Masterplan for the Geraldton Museum 
to enhance its status as one of the best 
regional museums in WA;

o	 enhance the vibrancy, attractiveness 
and amenity of the Batavia Coast Marina 
precinct; and

o	 progress the development of a business 
case to secure funding.

•	 Progressed the GHETAP project by:

o	 partnering with the Department of Housing 
to identify and secure a suitable site 
within the Geraldton Health, Education 
and Training Precinct; 

o	 completing an independent assessment 
of the cost of associated infrastructure 
(eg road access) and services; and

o	 commissioning a review of the demand 
for beds and updating the financial model 
accordingly.

•	 Worked with developer of land sold as part 
of Stage 1 of the Batavia Coast Marina 
redevelopment on issues related to the 
proposed new developments, including a 
hotel, tavern and ‘off property’ improvements.

•	 Worked with a Project Steering Group 
to complete the ‘establishment phase’ of 
the Mid  West Academy of Sport (MWAS), 
which develops talented subelite athletes, 
coaches and officials from within their home 
environment.  The MWAS ‘operate phase’ 
commenced in 2014, with processes and 
resources secured to enable operations and 
service delivery until 2015-16.

Major Initiatives for 2015-16

•	 Complete and launch the Mid West Regional 
Blueprint, for subsequent noting by the 
Western  Australian Planning Commission.

•	 Adopt the Mid West Regional Blueprint as the 
new MWDC Strategic Plan to guide future 
organisational objectives and operations.

•	 Complete the Commission’s organisational 
and operational review and implement 
changes needed to support its new focus.

•	 Support the WA Regional Development 
Reform Agenda, include establishment of new 
WA State Regional Development Strategy.

•	 Continue to progress ‘Flagship’ and other 
high priority projects identified in the MWIP.

•	 Complete and implement the MCA as a 
tool to help direct Commission resources to 
projects with the greatest potential to deliver 
Blueprint outcomes.

•	 Continue to work through the Commission’s 
MWSIG and the Agency Working Group to 
progress priority infrastructure projects such 
as the northern section of the Mid  West 
Energy project, early acquisition of land for 
ONIC and augmentation of the Geraldton 
Port to reduce bottlenecks.

330kV transmission line, Three Springs
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•	 Continue to support the GUC in its endeavours 
to consolidate existing courses, attract more 
school leavers including Aboriginal students 
and expand the range of courses offered in 
response to community and industry needs. 

•	 Continue to work with the GHETAP Steering 
Committee to progress the development of 
the proposed accommodation facility by:

o	 securing a suitable organisation to 
develop, own and operate the facility;

o	 securing a suitable site; and

o	 preparing a business case to secure 
funding to construct the facility.

•	 Continue to support the MWAS during its 
operate phase, with a focus on delivering 
services to athletes, coaches and officials and 
securing resources necessary to continue 
and expand operations.

•	 Work with proponents to progress the 
proposed hotel and other developments 
on land sold as part of Stage 1 of the 
Batavia Coast Marina redevelopment.

•	 Continue to support Centacare as required 
with the Bidi Bidi early childhood development 
and parenting centre in Mount Magnet.  
With 2015 being the final year of confirmed 
funding for Bidi Bidi, identifying and securing 
future funding is a high priority.

•	 Continue to work with LandCorp, CGG and 
other stakeholders to finalise the detailed 
planning for Stage 2 of the Batavia Coast 
Marina redevelopment and commence the 
development, which includes MWIP funded 
environmental remediation works.

•	 Work with the Western Australian Museum to 
develop the business case needed to secure 
funding for the planning, construction and 
fit-out of the proposed Geraldton Museum 
redevelopment.

•	 Improve mobile phone coverage and 
broadband services in the region by:

o	 supporting the Department of Commerce 
(DoC) to deliver the new Regional 
Telecommunications Project (RTP);

o	 working with local governments and DoC 
to investigate mobile phone coverage 
solutions in priority areas not covered by 
the initial stage of RTP; and

o	 investigating the viability of wireless 
broadband technology options that 
provide superior service levels to NBN’s 
proposed satellite services.

•	 As one of the first four Regional Centres 
selected, partner with the CGG, LandCorp 
and others to prepare a Growth Plan for 
Greater Geraldton to drive economic and 
employment outcomes.

330kV transmission line, Three Springs Bidi Bidi family Lot 601, Geraldton CBD
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Royalties for Regions Mid West Investment Plan

The Commission supported seven projects for funding from its Mid West Investment Plan (MWIP) 
during 2014-15.  The following projects shared $8,412,797 in funding.

Mid West Investment Plan - funded projects for 2014-15

Organisation Project Name Funding (ex GST)

Shire of Chapman Valley Yuna Multipurpose Community Centre $250,000

Shire of Chapman Valley East Bowes Road $600,000

Foodbank WA Foodbank WA Geraldton Warehouse $2,144,535

Shire of Northampton Binnu West and White Cliffs Road Upgrades $2,592,200

City of Greater Geraldton Wonthella Oval Lighting $590,000

Catholic Diocese of Geraldton Monsignor Hawes Interpretive Centre $1,541,062

Shire of Northampton Horrocks Community Centre $695,000

7 PROJECTS TOTAL $8,412,797

Monsignor Hawes Interpretive Centre, funding announcement
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Royalties for Regions Mid West Regional Grant Scheme

The Commission allocated $981,110 from the 2014-15 contestable round of the  
Mid West Regional Grants Scheme (MWRGS) to the following ten projects.

Mid West Regional Grants Scheme - funded projects for 2014-15

Organisation Project Name Funding (ex GST)

Kalbarri Sea Search and 
Rescue Group Volunteer Marine Rescue Building $277,000

Chrysalis Support Services Upgrade to Crisis Accommodation for Women $123,227

Shire of Murchison Equestrian Stabling Centre $47,000

City of Greater Geraldton Mid West China Connect Website $43,500

Hope Community Services Mt Hill Community Farm Kitchen $185,236

Shire of Three Springs Three Springs Revitalisation Project $40,325

Northampton Botanic Line Storage Shed $36,350

Shire of Mingenew Men’s Shed Ablution Block & Water Connection $34,472

Shire of Perenjori Perenjori Independent Living Units $168,000

Shire of Mingenew Ambulance Set Down Bay $26,000

10 PROJECTS TOTAL $981,110

ATLAS (Access To Leisure And Sport), successful 2013-14 MWRGS recipient
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Royalties for Regions Mid West Community Chest Fund

The Commission supported the following 25 worthwhile projects for funding from the  
Mid West Community Chest Fund (CCF) during 2014-15.

Mid West Community Chest Fund - funded projects for 2014-15

Organisation Project Name Funding (ex GST)

Shire of Mingenew Museum Refurbishments $5,780

MEEDAC Mullewa Garden Fence $4,400

Shire of Coorow Maley Park Playground $17,933

Shire of Chapman Valley Nanson Museum Extension $20,000

Shire of Three Springs Three Springs Childcare Centre Business Plan $7,000

Shire of Northampton (auspice 
for Kalbarri SES / VFRS) Kalbarri SES / VFRS Outdoor Classroom $19,950

Northampton Botanic Line Inc Ride on Mower $7,000

Mid West Chamber of Commerce 
& Industry Dongara Denison Business Directory Signage $20,000

The RSL of Australia WA Branch Northampton RSL Museum Display & 100 Year 
Centenary $14,288

Short Term Accommodation for 
Youth Inc (STAY) Getting on the Road with STAY $12,500

Arts & Cultural Development 
Council of Geraldton Art in Space $10,826

Shire of Coorow Green Head Men’s Shed Meeting Room $20,000

Shire of Cue Cue Tourism Signage $20,000

Dongara Irwin Race Club Race Course Facilities Upgrade $20,000

Wirnda Barna Artists Inc Wirnda Barna Aboriginal Cultural Arts Training $19,544

Shire of Irwin Mid West Coastal Nodes $20,000

Ngoonooru Wadjari People’s Trust Potable Water Supply $8,000

Shire of Irwin WiFi within Shire of Irwin $20,000

Geraldton Regional Community 
Education Centre Strategic Alliances and Partnerships for NGO’s $14,000

Northampton Friends of the 
Railway

Creating a more accessible Mary Street  
Railway Precinct $18,300

Geraldton Resource Centre Crisis / Short Term Accommodation Research $20,000

Shire of Chapman Valley Water Supply at Nanson Showgrounds $19,000

Wonthella Bowling Club Shade Replacement $13,900

Geraldton Regional Community 
Education Centre Conserving our Heritage for Community Services $10,594

Meeka Goes Green Meeka Goes Green Recycling $6,985

25 PROJECTS TOTAL $370,000
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Actual results versus budget targets

Financial Targets

Target 
$000

Actual 
$000

Variance 
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(details from Income Statement) 3,506 3,960 454

Net cost of services 
(details from Income Statement) 3,455 3,950 495

Total equity 
(details from Balance Sheet) 2,435 4,351 1,916

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(details from Cash Flow Statement) (317) 16 333

Approved full time equivalent (FTE)  
staff level 15 15 -

The variances for total cost and net cost of services are primarily due to the unbudgeted RfR grant 
funding round, which was partially offset with the deferral of Batavia Coast Marina and MWIP 
expenditure. 

The variance in total equity mainly reflects the carryover of $1.2 million Yellow Tail Kingfish Trial #2 
funding to 2015-16.

The variance in increase in cash held largely reflects carryover RfR funding, which includes funding 
for Yellow Tail Kingfish Trial #2.

For explanation on Income Statement variances, refer to Note 30 of the Financial Statements on 
page 52 of this report.

Martu Rangers, Wiluna
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators

The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the 
achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between 
the services delivered and the resources used to produce the service.

Target Actual Variance

Outcome: An environment conducive 
to the balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West region

Key Effectiveness Indicators:

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission reduced obstacles 
to economic growth and 
employment

42% 43% 1%

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to the 
development of a new business 
opportunity

63% 59% (4%)

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to more 
trade activity

30% 30% -

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to the 
retention of staff and/or expansion 
of employment opportunities

28% 32% 4%

Service 1: Information and Advice

Key Efficiency Indicators:

Cost per client visit
Cost per client inquiry

$500
$98

$304
$88

($196)
$10

Service 2: Investment Facilitation

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project $108,273 $90,495 $17,778

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project

 

$70,854

 

$48,841

 

$22,013
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Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are 
measured through an annual client perceptions 
survey, conducted by independent market 
research company.  Surveys were sent to 260 
clients that had contact with the Commission 
during 2014-15, with 186 completed surveys 
returned (response rate of 71.5%).

To support the balanced economic and social 
development of the region the Commission works 
to help reduce obstacles to growth; develop 
new business opportunities; increase trade 
activity; and retain staff / expand employment 
opportunities.  Accordingly, clients were asked 
questions regarding business development 
outcomes that were facilitated by contact with 
the Commission.  

Key Efficiency Indicators

Total costs for all service areas are below 
target.  This is mainly due to the timing of project 
expenditure combined with the reallocation 
into future forward estimates of budgeted 
MWIP funding.  This was the main driver for 
the decrease in average cost per project for 
Services 2 and 3.

The total number of client visits for Service 1 
was significantly above target.  This was due 
mainly to extensive consultation relating to 
the Mid  West Regional Blueprint combined 
with various related development strategies.  
The  MWIP and MWRGS were among other 
significant contributors.  This more than offset 
the impact of higher costs, resulting in the unit 
cost per client visit being 39% below target.  

For further explanation on variances, please 
refer to page 63 of this report.  Please note that 
within the audited Key Performance Indicators, 
target and actual total costs and unit costs have 
been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies 
Expense.
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES  
IMPACTING THE AGENCY
The Commission’s operations are influenced 
by major current and future opportunities and 
challenges in the region.  These include the 
following.

•	 The Commission will continue to use its 
Mid  West Investment Plan, which was 
supported by $220 million of Royalties for 
Regions funding, to leverage public and 
private investment in priority infrastructure 
for the region. 

•	 Regional growth and development 
strategies known as “Regional Blueprints” 
are being developed by the relevant 
Regional  Development Commission for 
implementation in each region of WA.  
The Blueprints are based on an aspirational 
vision led approach and holistic and 
integrated strategic planning.  The purpose 
of the Blueprints is to help transform each 
region from their current status and position 
them to attain sustainable growth and 
development goals. 

•	 The Commission will continue to 
undertake significant work to implement  its 
Mid  West R egional Blueprint in 2015‑16.  
The  Blueprint was developed in partnership 
with the Regional  Development  Australia 
Mid  West Gascoyne, with support from the 
Department of Planning and numerous other 
State agencies to produce one strategic 
Blueprint to meet both Federal  and State 
Government needs.

•	 The Blueprint has revealed five pillars and 
22 elements (sub pillars) considered vital to 
growth and development in the Mid  West.   
Each of these areas require further work to 
determine the priorities and key actions going 
forward.  In 2014-15 progress was made on 
the preparation and/or implementation of 
development strategies for tourism, business 
development, agriculture, health, broadband 
communications and strategic infrastructure.

•	 The Mid  West economy is heavily reliant 
on primary commodity exports, exposing it 
to market fluctuations and climate change 
impacts.  Initiatives to diversify the region’s 
economic base include:

o	 progressing information technology 
related opportunities;

o	 realising the region’s vast renewable 
energy potential;

o	 supporting marine based aquaculture 
research and development; and

o	 realising the region’s tourism potential.

•	 The Mid West has a relatively high Aboriginal 
population, which drives the need for initiatives 
that will support Aboriginal employment, 
education and business outcomes. 

•	 Around 83% of the region is classified as 
remote, which presents challenges to provide 
and maintain infrastructure and services.

•	 The Commission continues to strive for 
education outcomes, rural and remote service 
delivery and developing thriving local and 
subregional economies and communities. 
The implementation of the Mid  West 
Regional Blueprint is focussed on identifying 
and actioning key ‘game changing’ initiatives 
that can deliver the best economic and social 
outcomes for the region.
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DISCLOSURES AND 
LEGAL COMPLIANCE

Financial Statements

Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015.

The accompanying financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015 and the financial position as at 30 June 2015.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

JACINTA POTTS						      GAVIN TREASURE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
10 September 2015					     10 September 2015

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE					   
CHAIRMAN
10 September 2015



28  │  MWDC Annual Report 2014-15

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
COST OF SERVICES $ $
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 2,053,989 2,064,763
Supplies and services 7 662,178 571,480
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 68,234 70,368
Accommodation expenses 9 217,599 195,042
Grants and subsidies 10 918,180 352,990
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 11 - -
Other expenses 12 40,088 109,504
Total cost of services 3,960,268 3,364,147

Income
Revenue
Other revenue 13 10,021 114,319
Total Revenue 10,021 114,319
Total income other than income from State Government 10,021 113,319
NET COST OF SERVICES 3,950,247 3,249,828

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 14 234,000 229,000
Resources received free of charge 14 8,838 7,809
Royalties for Regions Fund 14 3,676,761 3,574,173
Total income from State Government 3,919,599 3,810,982
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD (30,648) 561,154

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 25 272,727 (127,272)
Total other comprehensive income 272,727 (127,272)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 242,079 433,882

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’. 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
ASSETS $ $
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26 125,412 213,085
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15, 26 2,409,919 2,305,824
Receivables 16 89,150 12,274
Amounts receivable for services 17  - -
Total Current Assets 2,624,481 2.531,183

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 17 153,000 153,000
Property, plant and equipment 18 3,164,214 2,932,172
Intangible assets 20 11,196 -
Total Non-Current Assets 3,328,410 3,085,172
TOTAL ASSETS 5,952,891 5,616,355

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 22 160,519 121,785
Provisions 24 426,811 397,349
Total Current Liabilities 587,330 519,134

Non-Current Liabilities
Amounts due to the Treasurer 23 960,000 960,000
Provisions 24 54,959 28,697
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,014,959 988,697

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,602,289 1,507,831
NET ASSETS 4,350,602 4,108,523

EQUITY
Contributed equity 25 355,946 355,946
Reserves 25 2,018,216 1,745,489
Accumulated surplus 25 1,976,440 2,007,088
TOTAL EQUITY 4,350,602 4,108,523

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note
Contributed 

equity Reserves
Accumulated 

surplus
Total 

equity
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2013 25 355,946 1,872,761 1,445,934 3,674,641
Surplus - - 561,154 561,154
Other comprehensive income - (127,272) - (127,272)
Total comprehensive income for the period - (127,272) 561,154 433,882

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

     Capital appropriations - - - -
     Other contributions by owners - - - -
     Distributions to owners - - - -
Total - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2014 355,946 1,745,489 2,007,088 4,108,523

Balance at 1 July 2014 355,946 1,745,489 2,007,088 4,108,523
Surplus  -  - (30,648) (30,648)
Other comprehensive income  - 272,727  - 272,727
Total comprehensive income for the period  - 272,727 (30,648) 242,079

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

     Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 
     Other contributions by owners  -  -  -  - 
     Distributions to owners  -  -  -  - 
Total  -  -  -  - 
Balance at 30 June 2015 355,946  2,018,216 1,976,440 4,350,602

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 234,000 229,000
Capital appropriation  - -
Holding account drawdowns  - 20,000
Royalties for Regions Fund 3,676,761 3,574,173
State Government grants and subsidies  - -
Net cash provided by State Government 3,910,761 3,823,173

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits  (1,971,193) (2,032,057)
Supplies and services  (661,452) (618,014)
Accommodation (219,100) (205,566)
GST payments on purchases (179,032) (111,968)
GST payments to taxation authority (2,360) (6,127)
Grants and subsidies (918,180) (352,990)
Other payments (45,188) (77,904)

Receipts
GST receipts on sales 1,568 7,040
GST receipts from taxation authority 129,895 157,702
Other receipts 9,449 155,742
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 26 (3,855,593) (3,084,142)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (38,743) -
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (38,743) -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,425 739,031
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 2,518,909 1,779,878

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 26 2,535,334 2,518,909

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Commission for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Commission is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.  Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation 
of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of 
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
except for land which has been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout 
all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made 
in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Mid West Development Commission.  The Mid West Development Commission was 
established under the Regional Development Commissions Act (1993) on April 8, 1994.  The Act also repealed the 
Geraldton Mid West Development Authority Act (1988) and determined that all assets and liabilities would transfer to the 
Mid West Development Commission from that date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners 
by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Commission gains control of 
the appropriated funds.  The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to 
the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions 
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains 
control over the funds.  The Commission obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Commission’s bank account.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets 
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and historical 
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land is carried at fair value and accumulated impairment losses.  All 
other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying 
values determined by reference to recent market transactions.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land is determined on the basis of existing use.  This normally 
applies where land use is restricted.  Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence 
for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low 
restricted use land). 

Land is independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end 
of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis 
to assets and in determining estimated useful life.  Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Refer to Note 18 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset 
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as 
described in Note 18 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Furniture & Fittings	 10 to 15 years
Office Equipment		 5 years
Computer Hardware	 3 to 5 years
Software (a)		  3 to 5 years

(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Land is not depreciated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life.  Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have 
a finite useful life and zero residual value.  

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software (a)		  3 to 5 years
Web site costs		  3 to 5 years

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment.  Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 
is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Web site costs

Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an 
asset when they may be capitalised and amortised.  Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning 
phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.  Costs  incurred in 
building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and written down to the recoverable amount 
and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified 
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is 
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no 
risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Refer to Note 21 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Noncurrent assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position.  Assets classified as 
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

(j) Leases

The Commission holds operating leases for motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over 
the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument:

•	 Loans and receivables

•	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets

•	 Cash and cash equivalents

•	 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

•	 Receivables

•	 Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities

•	 Payables

•	 Amounts due to the Treasurer

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction 
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see Note 22 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year.  
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Commission considers the carrying amount 
of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Commission receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable).  The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement 
to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.  Refer to Note 14 ‘Income from State Government’ and 
Note 17 ’Amounts receivable for services’.

(o) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there 
is objective evidence that the Commission will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  Refer also to Note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and Note 16 ‘Receivables’.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Payables

Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.  Refer to 
Note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and Note 22 ‘Payables’.

(q) Amounts due to the Treasurer

Initial recognition and measurement, and subsequent measurement, is at the amount repayable.  Although there is 
no interest charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12 
months with the effect of discounting not being material.  Refer to Note 23 ‘Amounts due to the Treasurer’.

(r) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period.  Refer to Note 24 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions - employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’.  The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Commission does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre‑conditional 
and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Conditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation 
dates.  

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members 
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS become non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider.  The Commission makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these 
accumulation schemes extinguish the Commissions liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who 
are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Provisions (continued)

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is 
a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by 
the Commission to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are 
assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission 
to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer 
for the employer’s share.

Provisions - Other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(s) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the 
GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, the GESBS and other superannuation funds.

(t) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the Commission would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured.  
A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(u) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

No judgements have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date do not 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Commissions long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  Changes in these 
estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on the Commission.

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy 
imposed should be recognised.  There is no financial impact for the Commission at reporting date.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number 
of changes to accounting treatments.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Commission as it does not 
impact accounting for related bodies and the Commission has no interests in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which are 
more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

There is no financial impact for the Commission as the new standard continues to require the 
recognition of the Commission’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the unincorporated 
joint operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates  and 
AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements removing the consolidation requirements of the earlier standards whilst 
retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate financial 
statements.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of 
clarifications for the accounting treatments of changed ownership interest.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Commission as it does not hold 
investments in associates and joint ventures.

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on 
materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian 
pronouncements.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements 
of not-for-profit entities within the General Government Sector.  The Commission will be required 
to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances between actual 
and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10. 
AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures.  There is no financial impact for the Commission.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities {AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified 
in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a 
legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of 
Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, 
which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a 
central counterparty as a  consequence of laws or regulations.  The Commission does not 
routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not‑for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued in October 213, provide significant guidance in determining whether 
a not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not a key attribute of the 
investor’s relationship.  The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact 
results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion 
of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.  
It has no financial impact.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no 
financial impact for the Commission.

Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Commission contributes to schemes that 
are either defined contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution plants.

Part C of the Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031  Materiality  
from a number of Accounting Standards.

(b) Voluntary changes in accounting policy

There have been no changes in accounting policy during the financial year.
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(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Commission 
has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact 
the Commission.  Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these Standards and Interpretations from their 
application date:

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 
1  January  2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013‑9 
and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  
The  Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission shall apply to 
report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
a contract with a customer. The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2010 - 7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 
in December 2010.  The mandatory application date of this Standard has 
been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.  
The  Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments.

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 
1 January 2017.  The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred 
to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-1	 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the 
Department to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018



42  │  MWDC Annual Report 2014-15

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for 

reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 2014-3	 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and 
does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations.  Therefore, there is 
no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4	
	

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Model Department 
as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue 
generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 15.  The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB  9 
(December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-9	
 
	

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in 
Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB  1 
and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 
financial statements. The Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for 

reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
[AASB 10 & 128] 

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency 
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture.  The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 
110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial 
Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in 
September 2014, and editorial corrections.  The Commission has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the 
disclosure requirements in AASB 101.  Specifically, the Standard proposes 
narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed 
about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure 
entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining 
what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal 
of AASB 1031 Materiality 

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard 
to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by 
not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to 
assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. The 
Department has not yet determined the application of the Standard, though 
there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016 

(d)	 Changes in accounting estimates

There have been no changes in accounting estimates during the financial year.
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Note 6. Employee benefits expense 2015 2014
$ $

Wages and salaries (a) 1,787,873 1,792,252
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 194,848 192,891
Other related expenses 71,268 79,620

2,053,989 2,064,763

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component.

(b)  Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESBS and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at Note 12 ‘Other Expenses’.  

Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 24 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7. Supplies and Services 2015 2014
$ $

Board fees 100,044 96,759
Communications 20,036 17,557
Consultants and contractors 306,548 251,210
Consumables 55,085 35,703
Equipment repairs and maintenance 18,022 21,217
Labour hire 9,060 1,957
Operating leases - vehicles 13,711 13,418
Travel 71,501 102,795
Other 68,171 30,864

662,178 571,480

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense 2015 2014
$ $

Depreciation
Office equipment 3,013 3,013
Communications 0 2,100
Computer hardware 2,914 3,324
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 60,903 60,903
Total depreciation 66,830 69,340

Amortisation
Intangible assets 1,404 1,028
Total amortisation 1,404 1,028
Total depreciation and amortisation 68,234 70,368

Note 9. Accommodation expenses 2014 2013
$ $

Building rental operating lease expense 187,920 181,569
Electricity 15,606 -
Cleaning 14,073 13,473

217,599 195,042



MWDC Annual Report 2014-15  │  45    

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 10. Grants and subsidies 2015 2014
$ $

Recurrent
Regional Development Scheme (a) 9,369 130,390
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Grant Scheme 908,811 214,208
Royalties for Regions Fund - Statewide Aging In Place - 8,392

918,180 352,990
(a) Includes the reallocation to new recipients of funds granted in earlier rounds of the 
Regional Development Scheme (RDS) which were either not utilised at all or exceeded the actual requirements of 
the original recipients.  These funds were returned to the RDS funding pool and allocated to or available for allocation 
to new projects.

Note 11. Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 2015 2014
$ $

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Computer Hardware - -
Furniture, fixtures and fittings - -
Net loss - -

Note 12. Other expenses 2015 2014
$ $

Audit fees 30,167 41,217
Employment on-costs (a) 7,089 5,531
Other expenses (b) 2,832 2,832
Refund of revenue - 59,924

40,088 109,504
(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at Note  24 ‘Provisions’.   
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in 
employment on‑costs.

Note 13 Other revenue 2015 2014
$ $

Department of Planning - 50,000
Horizon Power Community Benefit Fund - 50,000
Other revenue 10,021 14,319

10,021 114,319
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Note 14. Income from State Government 2015 2014
$ $

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 234,000 229,000

234,000 229,000
Services received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Department of Finance 8,838 7,809

8,838 7,809
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account 750,000 80,127
Regional Community Services Account 1,058,761 1,715,046
Regional and Statewide Initiative 1,868,000 1,779,000

3,676,761 3,574,173
3,919,599 3,810,992

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component 
and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)  Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the 
assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. 
Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

Note 15. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2015 2014
$ $

Batavia Coast Marina Redevelopment 502,271 502,271
Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways Project 1,435 6,195
Geraldton Foreshore Redevelopment 13,263 13,263
Geraldton Health, Education and Training Accommodation Project - 14,500
Mid West Development Commission - Capital 6,892 25,635
Midwest Digital Economy Strategy 22,500 22,500
Midwest Science Forum 638 973
Midwest Tourism Development Strategy - 23,478
Murchison IT Training & Support Project 20,000 20,000
Pacific Flora 2004 3,091 3,091
Regional Development Scheme 2,000 11,369
Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits Fund 250,000 250,000
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,573,216 1,399,936
Treasury 2,000 -
Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow-out Trial 12,613 12,613

2,409,919 2,305,824

Note 16. Receivables 2015 2014
$ $

Current
GST receivable 63,521 12,274
Receivables 25,629 -
Total Current 89,150 12,274
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Note 17. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 2015 2014
$ $

Current - -
Non-current 153,000 153,000

153,000 153,000
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.

Note 18. Property, plant & equipment 2015 2014
$ $

Office equipment
At cost 15,064 15,064
Accumulated depreciation (9,038) (6,026)

6,026 9,038
Communications
At cost 10,287 10,287
Accumulated depreciation (10,287) (10,287)

- -
Computer hardware
At cost 26,143 23,929
Accumulated depreciation (2,913) (23,929)

23,230 -
Furniture fixtures & Fittings
At Cost 609,027 609,027
Accumulated Depreciation (213,160) (152,257)

395,867 456,770
Land
At fair value (a) 2,739,091 2,466,364

2,739,091 2,466,364
3,164,214 2,932,172

(a) Land was revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).  
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30 June 2015.  In undertaking 
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $2,739,091 (2014; $2,466,364).

Information on fair value measurements is provided at Note 19 ‘Fair value measurements’.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set 
out in the table below: 

Office 
equipment Communications

Computer 
hardware

Furniture, 
fixtures & 

fittings Land Total
2015 $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 9,038 - - 456,770 2,466,364 2,932,172
Additions - - 26,143 - - 26,143
Disposals (written down value) - - - - - -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - - 272,727 272,727
Depreciation (3,012) - (2,913) (60,903) - (66,830)
Carrying amount at end of year 6,026 - 23,230 395,867 2,739,091 3,164,214

2014 $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 12,051 2,100 3,324 517,673 2,593,636 3,128,784
Additions - - - - - -
Disposals (written down value) - - - - - -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - - (127,272) (127,272)
Depreciation (3,013) (2,100) (3,324) (60,903) - (69,340)
Carrying amount at end of year 9,038 - - 456,770 2,466,364 2,932,172
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Note 19. Fair value measurement
Fair value

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 At end of period
2015 $ $ $ $
Land (Note 18) - 2,739,091 - 2,739,091

- 2,739,091 - 2,739,091
Assets measured at fair value:
2014 $ $ $ $
Land (Note 18) - 2,466,364 - 2,466,364

- 2,466,364 - 2,466,364
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.
Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the 
market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office accommodation) in close 
proximity is used to determine price per square metre.  The Commission has used the fair value as determined by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and applied the margin scheme in deriving fair value.
Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell.  Fair value has been determined 
by reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.

Note 20. Intangible assets 2015 2014
$ $

Computer software
At Cost 17,977 15,492
Accumulated Amortisation (6,781) (15,492)

11,196 -
Website
At Cost 18,096 18,096
Accumulated Amortisation (18,096) (18,096)

- -
Total intangible assets 11,196 -

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year - 1,028
Amortisation expense 12,600 -
Carrying amount at end of period (1,404) (1,028)

11,196 -

Note 21. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2015.
The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2015 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

Note 22. Payables 2015 2014
$ $

Current
Accrued salaries 60,334 52,484
Accrued expenses 95,597 59,659
Trade payables 4,588 9,642
Total current 160,519 121,785

Note 23. Amounts due to the Treasurer 2015 2014
$ $

Non-Current
Amount due to the Treasurer 960,000 960,000

960,000 960,000
A liability of $5,000,000 relating to capital works at the Geraldton Foreshore and Marina was transferred to the 
Geraldton Mid West Development Authority (now the Mid West Development Commission) by the Department of Marine 
and Harbours on 30 June 1993.  Since that time repayments totalling $4,040,000 have been made to the Consolidated 
fund thereby reducing the outstanding indebtedness to $960,000.  The loan is interest free and has no set repayment 
terms. Accordingly it has been carried at face value.
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Note 24. Provisions 2015 2014
$ $

Current
Employee benefits provision

Annual Leave (a) 227,290 216,227
Long Service Leave (b) 182,517 172,482
Purchased leave (c) 7,883 89

417,690 388,798
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d) 9,121 8,551
9,121 8,551

426,811 397,349
Non-current
Employee benefits provision

Long Service Leave (b) 53,732 28,062
53,732 28,062

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 1,227 635

1,227 635
54,959 28,697

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected 
to occur as follows:

2015 2014
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 135,631 126,203
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 91,659 90,024

227,290 216,227

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities 
is expected to occur as follows:

2015 2014
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 30,065 7,019
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 206,185 193,526

236,249 200,545

(c) Purchased leave scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Actual settlement of liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2015 2014
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 7,883 89
7,883 89

(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including worker’s 
compensation insurance.  The Commission considers the carrying amount of employee on-costs approximates the net fair value.  

The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
2015 2014

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below: $ $

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 9,186 9,057
Additional provisions recognised (3,196) (3,348)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits 4,358 3,477
Carrying amount at end of period 10,348 9,186
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Note 25. Equity 

The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual 
interest in the net assets of the Commission.
Contributed equity 2015 2014

$ $
Balance at start of period 355,946 355,946
Balance at end of period 355,946 355,946

Reserves
2015 2014

Asset revaluation surplus $ $
Balance at start of period 1,745,489 1,872,761
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land 272,727 (127,272)
Balance at end of period 2,018,216 1,745,489

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
2015 2014

$ $
Balance at start of period 2,007,088 1,445,934
Result for the period (30,648) 561,154
Balance at end of period 1,976,440 2,007,088

Total equity at end of period 4,350,602 4,108,523

Note 26. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2015 2014
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 125,412 213,085
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 15 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 2,409,919 2,305,824

2,535,331 2,518,909

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
2015 2014

$ $
Net cost of services (3,950,247) (3,249,828)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 68,234 70,368
Services received free of charge 8,838 7,809
Net (gain)/loss on sale of plant and equipment - -

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) (25,629) 41,573
Exclude receivables movements relating to:

- Revenues from State Government - -
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) 38,734 (24,477)
Current provisions 29,462 109,565
Non-current provisions 26,262 (87,427)
Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) (49,930) 46,646
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) (1,317) 1,628
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (3,855,593) (3,084,143)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect 
of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transaction. 
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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Note 27. Commitments

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
2015 2014

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows: $ $

Within 1 year 218,521 205,199
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 38,220 206,375
Later than 5 years - -

256,741 411,574

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent 
payable monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall increase by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum.  An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the five 
year term for an additional term of five years.

Other expenditure commitments
2015 2014

Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but 
not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

$ $

Within 1 year 1,630,108 1,855,824
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 829,810 450,000

2,459,918 2,305,824

Note 28. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

At reporting date, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its land to the Stage 2 development of the 
Batavia Cost Marina to Landcorp.  If this occurs the Commission’s associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will 
be repaid by the project.

Note 29. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

No events, matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Commission, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Commission in future financial years.
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Note 31. Financial instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Commission. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at 
Note 31 (c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’ and Note 16 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Commission has policies in place to ensure that services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable 
data indicating changes in client credit ratings.  For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to 
Note 31 (c) ‘Financial instruments disclosure’. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Commission’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Commission does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 

(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are:

2015 2014
$ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 125,412 213,085
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,409,919 2,305,824
Loans and receivables (a) 178,629 153,000

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,120,519 1,081,785

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 31. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments disclosures
Credit risk

The following table details the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial 
assets. The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired 
and impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
 

Aged analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

 

Carrying

Amount

Not past due 
and not 

impaired 
Up to 

3 months
3-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2015
Cash and cash equivalents 125,412 125,412 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,409,919 2,409,919 - - - - - -
Receivables (a) 25,629 25,629 - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 153,000 153,000 - - - - - -

2,713,960 2,713,960 - - - - - -

2014
Cash and cash equivalents 213,085 213,085 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,305,824 2,305,824 - - - - - -
Receivables (a) - - - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 153,000 153,000 - - - - - -

2,671,909 2,671,909 - - - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).



58  │  MWDC Annual Report 2014-15

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 31. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments disclosures (continued)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details the Commission’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate 
exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.  

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure                  Maturity dates

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest  

rate

 

Carrying

Amount

 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

 

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non  
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount

Up to 
3 months

3-12 
months

1-2  
years

2-5  
years

More  
than 

5 years
% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 125,412 - - 125,412 125,412 125,412 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 2,409,919 - - 2,409,919 2,409,919 2,409,919 - - - -
Receivables (a) - 25,629 - - 25,629 25,629 25,629 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 153,000 - - 153,000 153,000 - - 153,000 - -

- 2,713,960 - - 2,713,960 2,713,960 2,560,960 - 153,000 - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 160,519 - - 160,519 160,519 160,519 - - - -
Amounts due to the Treasurer - 960,000 - - 960,000 960,000 - - 960,000 - -

- 1,120,519 - - 1,120,519 1,120,519 160,519 - 960,000 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure                  Maturity dates

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest  

rate

 

Carrying

Amount

 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

 

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non  
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount

Up to 
3 months

3-12 
months

1-2  
years

2-5 
 years

More 
 than 

5 years
% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2014
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 213,085 - - 213,085 213,085 213,085 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 2,305,824 - - 2,305,824 2,305,824 2,305,824 - - - -
Receivables (a) - - - - - - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 153,000 - - 153,000 153,000 - - 153,000 - -

- 2,671,909 - - 2,671,909 2,671,909 2,518,909 - 153,000 - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 121,785 - - 121,785 121,785 121,785 - - - -
Amounts due to the Treasurer - 960,000 - - 960,000 960,000 - - 960,000 - -

- 1,081,785 - - 1,081,785 1,081,785 121,785 - 960,000 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

None of the Commission’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements 
in interest rates, hence movements in interest rates have no bottom line impact on the Commission’s surplus or equity.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or 
fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated 
in the applicable notes.
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Note 32. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$ 2015 2014
0 -  10,000 8 7
10,001 - 20,000 - 1
50,001 - 60,000 - -
60,001 - 70,000 1 1

$ $
Base remuneration and superannuation 100,153 105,814
Annual leave and long service leave accruals -
Other benefits 7,037 13,341
The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 107,190 119,155

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the 
accountable authority.

Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total 
fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following 
bands are: 

$ 2015 2014
60,001 - 70,000 - -
180,001 - 190,000 - -
290,001 - 300,000 1 -
300,001 - 310,000 - 1

$ $
Base remuneration and superannuation 223,084 216,831
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 1,168 18,805
Other benefits 67,359 65,710
The total remuneration of senior officers 291,611 301,346

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers 
other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority.

Note 33. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2015 2014
$ $

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 26,500 25,100
26,500 25,100
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Additional Key Performance Indicator Information

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate to for assisting users to assess the Mid West Development Commission’s performance, 
and fairly represent the performance of the Mid West Development Commission for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2015.

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE					     GAVIN TREASURE
CHAIRMAN		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
10 September 2015					     10 September 2015
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Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators

Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires the disclosure of performance information in the Commission’s 
annual report. This information assists interested parties such as government, the community 
and client groups to assess agency performance in achieving government desired outcomes and 
obtaining value for public funds from services delivered.

Broad, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired outcomes.  
The Commission delivers services to achieve its desired outcome, which ultimately contributes to 
meeting higher level government goals.  The following table illustrates the relationship between the 
Commission’s services and desired outcome with the most appropriate government goal.

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

Stronger Focus on the 
Regions:

Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic 
development to improve the 
overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West 
region.

1. Information and Advice

2. Investment Facilitation

3. Infrastructure and  
Services Development 
in the Mid West

Meekatharra sunset
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1.0    Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are measured through an annual client perceptions 
survey, conducted by an independent market research company.  This information is used to assess 
the effectiveness of the Commission’s contact with businesses and the benefits derived by clients.

Surveys were sent to 260 randomly selected clients that had contact with the Commission during 
2014‑15.  One hundred and eighty six (186) completed surveys were received, achieving a response 
rate of 71.5%.  Based on population homogeneity calculations, the survey results demonstrate an 
overall sampling error within +/- 5% at the 95% confidence level for the overall results.

A highlight from the customer perceptions survey was that 90% of clients agreed that the Commission 
makes a positive contribution towards economic development in the Mid West.  This rating has been 
consistent at around 90% for at least the past seven reporting periods.

The Commission works to develop and support an environment conducive to the balanced economic 
and social development of the Mid West region.  The Commission’s success at this may positively 
impact on clients in a number of ways including helping to reduce obstacles to growth, develop new 
business opportunities, increase trade activity and retain staff / expand employment opportunities.

Accordingly clients were asked a number of questions relating to business development facilitated 
by their contact with the Commission.  Findings are summarised below:

Survey Question
Actual

2011-12
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Target

2014-15
Actual

2014-15

Reduced obstacles to growth 41% 42% 44% 42% 43%

Developed new business opportunities 68% 63% 61% 63% 59%

More trade activity 36% 34% 31% 30% 30%

Retention of staff / expansion of 
employment opportunities 33% 36% 31% 28% 32%

Comments

Results in three of the four criteria were marginally lower in 2014-15 than 2013‑14, with those  
relating to new business opportunities and trade activity down considerably since 2011‑12.  
This  is likely in part due to the Commission no longer providing TradeStart export services to 
Mid West businesses on behalf of Austrade (contract ceased 30 June 2010), which resulted in 
significant reduction in engagement with Mid West businesses.  Despite no longer offering this 
service, results in three of the four criteria remained at or above target for the reporting period.

2.0    Key Efficiency indicators

The following efficiency indicators are based on the total cost for each of the Service areas after 
excluding Grants and Subsidies expense.  The costs for each Service area comprise both direct 
expenditure and an allocation of general costs and overheads.  The total cost of all Services is 
reported in the Commission’s Statement of Comprehensive Income as the Total Cost of Services.
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2.1    Service 1 – Information and Advice

Service Description

To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between 
government, business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact and 
by raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2011-12
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Target

 2014-15
Actual

2014-15

Total cost of Service (1)  (2) $765,568 $922,924 $894,523 $820,774 $906,795

Client contacts (inquiries) 5,750 4,521 4,203 4,200 5,132

Cost per client inquiry $67 $102 $106 $98 $88

Client visits 570 692 1,162 820 1,489

Cost per client visit $672 $667 $385 $500 $304

	 Note:

	 1.  Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

	 2.  50% of the Total cost of Service is allocated to each of Client Visits and Client Contacts when calculating the respective 	
	      unit costs.

Comments

Total costs increased by around 1.4% from 2013-14 due mainly to an increase in expenditure 
associated with Geraldton Health, Education and Training Accommodation Project (GHETAP) 
and the Mid West Tourism Development Strategy.  The actual total cost of service in 2014-15 
differs to target primarily due mainly to unbudgeted project expenditure.

The 2014-15 number of client inquiries was 22% above target.  Reasons include consultation 
during the preparation of the Mid  West Regional  Blueprint and several resultant ‘Blueprint 
development strategies’.  Delivery of the Mid West Investment Plan and rollout of the contestable 
RfR Mid West Regional Grants Scheme were also significant contributors.  Despite this and the 
challenging economic conditions, there has been solid demand for Commission services in a 
variety of areas including advancing projects, assistance with securing grant funding, promotion 
and advocacy and industry development projects.

The total number of client visits in 2014-15 was 82% above target, reflecting the Commission’s 
high level of engagement with clients throughout the region.  Reasons for the increase correlate 
with those attributed to the number of client inquiries (above).
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2.2    Service 2 – Investment Facilitation

Service Description

To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base and 
is attractive to investors.

Performance Measures
Actual

2011-12
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Target

 2014-15
Actual

2014-15

Total cost of Service (1) $875,309 $981,788 $1,424,611 $1,624,100 $1,402,673

Projects relating to investment 
facilitation undertaken 15.5 15.5 15.5 15.0 15.5

Average cost per project $56,472 $63,341 $91,910 $108,273 $90,795

	 Note: 

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total costs for 2014-15 were below target, which is mainly due to the actual total expenditure 
of Mid West Investment Plan funding not meeting budget expectations.  The lower total cost of 
service results in a decrease in the average cost per project.  

2.3	 Service 3 – Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

Service Description

To assist the development of infrastructure and services and long term economic development 
strategies for the Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2011-12
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Target

2014-15
Actual

2014-15

Total cost of Service (1) $585,334 $562,879 $692,023 $1,062,805 $732,620

Projects undertaken relating 
to Infrastructure and Services 
development in the Mid West

17 16 15 15 15

Average cost per project $34,431 $35,180 $46,135 $70,854 $48,841

Note:

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total cost of service for 2014-15 was below target due to the deferral in budgeted 
Batavia Coast Marina expenditure.  Average cost per project fluctuates with the number and size 
of projects being undertaken as well as the timing of their expenditure.  The average project cost 
remains relatively unchanged from 2013‑14.
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Auditor General 

Page 1 of 3 
 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIl to: Perth BC Po Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

   
 
 
 
INdEPENdENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
MId WEST dEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Commission’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Commission is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commission determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. the audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commission, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Mid West Development Commission at  
30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. they are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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Page 2 of 3 
 

Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission during the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission are those policies and 
procedures established by the Commission to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Commission’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Commission is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Commission complies with the legislative provisions. the procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Mid West Development Commission for the 
year ended 30 June 2015.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Commission’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Commission is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Commission determines necessary to ensure that the 
key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Mid West Development Commission are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Mid West Development Commission for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on the 
Commission’s website. The Commission’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance 
indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard 
copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the 
information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators. 
 

     
Don CUnnInGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
17 September 2015 
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

Other Financial Disclosures

Pricing policies of services provided
The Commission does not charge for services and this reporting requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Capital Works

Capital projects incomplete

The Commission did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2014-15.

Capital projects complete

The Commission did not complete any capital works projects during 2014-15.

Employment and Industrial Relations

Staff Profile

In 2014-15, the Mid West Development Commission operated with up to 15 staff all of whom were 
located at the Commission’s Geraldton office.

2014-15 2013-14

Full-time permanent 10.5 10.9

Full-time contract   2.1 2.8

Part-time measured on an FTE basis   0.8 0.2

On secondment   1.0 1.0

14.4 14.9

Staff Development
The Commission has a commitment to the development of its employees.  Our strategy is to build a 
highly skilled and professional workforce and as a result we are building a strong and capable team with 
the ability to adapt to the growth and diversity being experienced in the Mid West.

Various industry specific training and professional development was undertaken as opportunity arose.

Workers Compensation
No workers compensation claims have been made within the Commission during 2014-15.
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Governance Disclosures

Contracts with Senior Officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, 
or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial 
interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission and senior officers.

Other Legal Requirements

Advertising
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2014-15 was $13,015.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Class of expenditure Organisation Total expenditure 
2014-15 (inc GST)

Advertising agencies $8,705 Market Creations $2,401 (1)

Adcorp Australia Limited $5,909

West Coast Media $395

Market research agencies $4,310 Asset Research $4,310

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mailing organisations Nil

1.	 Includes $1,080 for web hosting and other Internet services.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
In 2007 the Commission, in consultation with the Disability Services Commission and the public, 
developed and submitted a Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in compliance with the 2004 
amendment to the Disability Services Act 1993.

The DAIP was successfully implemented during 2007-08, and the following principles have been 
followed during 2014-15 to continue to address the seven desired DAIP outcomes:

1.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by the Commission.

(i)	 Assessment of all Commission events as to their accessibility by all people.

(ii)	 Amended all grant agreements and contacts to include reference to the Commission’s DAIP.

(iii)	 Reviewed and modified policies to include relevant strategies under the DAIP.

2.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of the Commission.

(i)	 Increased staff awareness of issues of accessibility (see outcome 4).

3.	 People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that will enable them 
to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.

(i)	 Provision of all communications in clear and concise language, avoiding jargon.

4.	 People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Commission as other people receive from the Commission.

(i)	 Ongoing annual disability awareness training program for all Commission staff, including 
updating the new staff induction process to address the Commission’s DAIP.

5.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities to make complaints to the Commission.

(i)	 Alternative formats provided wherever the Commission’s grievance procedures are displayed.

6.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by the Commission.

(i)	 All venues assessed for accessibility when arranging public consultation events.

(ii)	 Consideration to be made whether any target groups would benefit from public consultation 
to encourage participation.

(iii)	 Ongoing assessment of accessibility of venues when arranging public consultation events.

7.	 Employment – People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment with a public sector.

(i)	 Vacancy advertisements now include a statement that MWDC is an equal opportunity employer.

(ii)	 Special needs of new employees are identified and any adjustments will be made to the 
workplace and work practices where necessary prior to and as soon after as can be reasonably 
expected after induction depending on the nature of the adjustments.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1):

1.	 In the administration of the Mid  West Development Commission, I have complied with 
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western  Australian 
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2.	 I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and also conducted 
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

3.	 The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for 
the reporting period are:

	 Number lodged:	 Nil

	 Number of breaches found, including details  
	 of multiple breaches per application:	 Nil

	 Number still under review:	 Nil

	 Gavin Treasure

	 Chief Executive Officer

	 10 September 2015

Port Denison
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Records Keeping Plans
As required by the State Records Act 2000, the Commission has an approved 
Records Keeping Plan (RKP).

Periodical record keeping training programs through the Commission’s formal monthly staff 
meetings, as well as an induction program for new employees address the roles of staff and their 
responsibilities in regard to compliance with the Commission’s RKP.

The Records Team within the Commission review the efficiency and effectiveness of its record 
keeping training program regularly, to ensure that key record systems objectives and record 
keeping practices are being met.  A Commission Record Keeping Manual is in place to assist the 
Records Team to formalise and structure the training program for staff.

Government Policy Requirements

Substantive Equality
As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the 
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, this reporting requirement only applies to participating 
agencies.  The Commission is not a participant and this requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The Commission strives to ensure a safe working environment.  Occupational Safety and Health 
(OSH) issues (risks and hazards) can be reported at any time to the Corporate Services Manager 
and are addressed as they are identified.  OSH policies continue to be reviewed and monitored as 
required by the changing needs of the Commission and its working environment.

Staff are made aware of OSH policies and procedures at induction and there are continuing 
awareness sessions during monthly meetings as necessary.

The Mid West Development Commission is compliant with the injury management requirements 
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

The Commission’s annual performance report for 2014-15 against the following indicators: 

Indicator Target 2014-15 Actual 2014-15

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

0%
0%

0%
0%

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities ≥80% 0%
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